

ESSA Level II Report

February 2025

Contents

Executive Summary
Study Sample, Measures, and Methods3
Program Implementation and Student Findings3
Conclusion3
Introduction
Method5
Study Design5
Setting and Participants5
Measures5
Data Analysis5
Baseline Equivalence
Results
Implementation Research Findings6
Effectiveness Research Findings6
Conclusions
References9
Appendix A. K12 Tutoring Logic Model10
Appendix B. Additional Information on Study Design and Methods11
Appendix C. Additional Information on Results13

Executive Summary

To demonstrate effectiveness of their program and services, the impact of K12 Tutoring on student outcomes was examined. The study was also designed to satisfy Level II requirements (Moderate Evidence) of the Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA).

Study Sample, Measures, and Methods

This study utilized a quasi-experimental design with propensity score matching to meet ESSA Level II evidence standards. It analyzed 354 fourth-grade students from two full-time virtual schools in the southwestern U.S. The treatment group included 118 students who participated in K12 Tutoring during the 2023–2024 school year, while the comparison group consisted of 236 demographically similar students with comparable fall achievement who did not receive tutoring. The sample was 55% female and predominantly Hispanic (43%), with 61% classified as economically disadvantaged. Additionally, 25% received special education services, and 9% were English Language Learners.

Administrative and standardized assessment data were used to assess the impact of tutoring on student outcomes. Descriptive statistics provided insights into participant characteristics and program implementation, while regression analyses measured tutoring effects on student outcomes. A matched sample was created to ensure baseline equivalence.

Program Implementation and Student Findings

Student Usage. On average, each fourth-grade student participating in K12 Tutoring received 729 minutes of instruction across 12 tutoring sessions between December 2023 and June 2024.

Student Outcomes. The impact of K12 Tutoring on student outcomes was assessed by comparing tutoring participants to a demographically and academically similar group of non-users. Students who received K12 Tutoring demonstrated significantly higher end-of-year NWEA MAP Growth math RIT scores than their peers who did not participate. Further regression analysis examined the effect of tutoring intensity on math MAP Growth. The findings revealed a positive and statistically significant relationship, with students who received high-dosage tutoring (> 12 hours) experiencing the greatest academic gains.

Conclusion

Given the positive outcome findings, this study meets ESSA Level II (Moderate Evidence) requirements. It was a properly designed and well-implemented quasi-experimental study that documented baseline equivalence, incorporated statistical controls, included over 350 students across multiple schools, and demonstrated at least one statistically significant positive result.

Introduction

High-impact (or high-dosage) tutoring, characterized by frequent and intensive instructional support, has been shown to significantly improve student academic outcomes, particularly in mathematics and reading. Research indicates that tutoring sessions of at least three times per week, delivered in small groups or one-on-one, yield substantial gains in student achievement (Kraft & Falken, 2021). A recent meta-analysis found that high-impact tutoring can produce effect sizes of 0.29 or higher, equivalent to months of additional learning (Nickow et al., 2024). Moreover, such tutoring is particularly beneficial for historically underserved students, helping to close achievement gaps and support learning recovery post-pandemic (Dietrichson et al., 2021). The personalized nature of tutoring allows for targeted interventions, immediate feedback, and stronger student engagement, making it one of the most effective educational strategies for accelerating learning (Robinson & Loeb, 2021).

K12 Tutoring provides students with tailored academic support tailored to their unique learning needs. Specializing in K-12 education, it offers targeted tutoring in core subjects such as math, English, science, and social studies, helping students build confidence and improve their skills. With state-certified tutors and a personalized online learning environment, K12 Tutoring ensures students receive high-quality instruction that aligns with their school curriculum. K12 Tutoring focuses on fostering academic growth, closing learning gaps, and preparing students for long-term success (see logic model [Long & Henschel, 2023], Appendix A).

To demonstrate effectiveness of their program and services, the impact of K12 Tutoring on student outcomes was examined. The study was also designed to satisfy Level II requirements (Moderate Evidence) of the Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA).

The study had the following research questions:

Implementation Research Questions

1. For students participating in K12 Tutoring, how many total tutoring minutes and tutoring sessions were completed?

Effectiveness Research Questions

NWEA MAP Growth Math Assessment

- 2. What was the impact of K12 Tutoring on the end-of-year NWEA MAP Growth math assessment for students who received tutoring compared to those who did not?
- 3. How did the end-of-year NWEA MAP Growth math assessment scores vary based on the total amount of time students spend in tutoring?

Method

This section of the report provides a concise overview of the study's design, setting, participant details, measurement tools, analytical methods, and baseline equivalence procedures.

Study Design

This study employed a quasi-experimental design utilizing propensity score matching to meet ESSA Level II evidence standards. The treatment group consisted of students who participated in K12 Tutoring during the 2023–2024 school year, while the comparison group comprised demographically similar students with comparable fall achievement who did not use K12 Tutoring.

Setting and Participants

This quasi-experimental study was conducted during the 2023–2024 academic year and examined a matched sample of 354 fourth-grade students from two full-time virtual school districts across two southwestern states. While the districts operate independently, under separate administrations, the tutoring implementation was similar. The sample consisted of 118 students in the treatment group and 236 in the comparison group. Gender distribution was balanced, with 55% female students. The majority of participants identified as Hispanic (43%), followed by African American (19%), white (10%), American Indian (1%), Asian (1%), and 25% whose racial or ethnic background was unreported. Additionally, 61% of students were classified as economically disadvantaged based on free or reduced-price lunch eligibility, 25% received special education services, and 9% were identified as English Language Learners.

Measures

This study included the following measures to provide insights into the impact of K12 Tutoring on student outcomes.

K12 Tutoring Usage Metrics. Student-level tutoring usage data was collected to measure tutoring participation, including total minutes and session counts. This data was analyzed to assess variations in students' engagement with K12 Tutoring during the 2023–2024 school year and to examine its impact on student outcomes.

Student Outcomes. Administrative data was collected, such as assessment score and course data, to evaluate student outcomes.

Data Analysis

Descriptive statistics were used to summarize participant characteristics and inform implementation analyses. To evaluate the outcomes and impacts of K12 Tutoring, regression analyses were conducted, incorporating student-level covariates and nearest neighbor propensity score matching to mitigate potential selection bias. Additionally, standardized effect sizes (Hedges' g) were calculated to measure the magnitude of differences in outcomes between K12 Tutoring participants and non-users with similar demographic and academic profiles.

Baseline Equivalence

To ensure the validity of the study's findings and adhere to ESSA Level II standards, researchers conducted baseline equivalence tests on matched treatment and comparison student samples. These findings are discussed in the Results section and referenced in Appendix B.

Results

Implementation Research Findings

Tutoring usage metrics were analyzed to determine the extent to which students used K12 Tutoring during the 2023–2024 school year.

For students participating in K12 Tutoring, how many total tutoring minutes and tutoring sessions were completed?

Fourth-grade students who participated in K12 Tutoring completed an average of 12 sessions. Students (89%) generally completed 60-min sessions; however, due to scheduling, some students completed all their tutoring in 30-min sessions (6%) and others completed tutoring in a mixture of 30 and 60-min sessions (5%). On average, students completed 729 minutes of tutoring between December 2023 and June 2024. Tutoring sessions were completed as small groups sessions (of less than 4 students per tutor).

Effectiveness Research Findings

To answer effectiveness research questions, regression analyses were conducted using matched samples of K12 Tutoring users to non-users, as well as analyses for K12 Tutoring users only. The following section details (a) the impact of K12 Tutoring on learning outcomes, (b) the influence of time spent in K12 Tutoring on learning outcomes. Statistically significant findings are noted only if they meet the p < .05 threshold.

What was the impact of K12 Tutoring on the end-of-year NWEA MAP Growth math assessment for students who received tutoring compared to those who did not?

A matched sample of students who used K12 Tutoring and those who did not was constructed, incorporating MAP Growth assessment scores prior to tutoring, school, gender, and special education status. The baseline equivalence of the matched sample was confirmed with a Hedges' *g* of 0.01 and a standardized mean difference of 0.15, indicating comparable pre-tutoring MAP Growth assessment scores between groups.

Using this matched sample, a linear regression model was conducted to assess the effect of K12 Tutoring participation on end-of-year NWEA MAP Growth math score (as measured by RIT [Rasch Unit] points). The model controlled for pre-tutoring math MAP Growth scores, as well as school, gender, and special education status. Results indicated that students who participated in K12 Tutoring had significantly higher end-of-year math RIT scores than non-users. This difference was statistically significant (p < .001; g = .21, see Figure 1). For the full model, see Appendix C.

K12 Tutoring users had higher end-of-year NWEA MAP Growth math assessment RIT scores than non-users, and this difference was statistically significant.



Figure 1. Adjusted means for end-of-year NWEA MAP Growth math assessment RIT scores for K12 Tutoring and non-users. Mean difference was statistically significant (p < .001, g = .21, n = 354).

How did the end-of-year NWEA MAP Growth math assessment scores vary based on the total amount of time students spend in tutoring?

A linear regression model was conducted for K12 Tutoring students, exploring the influence of different intensities of K12 Tutoring usage on end-of-year NWEA MAP Growth math assessment scores. The model also included MAP Growth assessment score prior to beginning tutoring, school, gender, and special education status as covariates. As shown in Figure 2, students who spent more time in K12 Tutoring had higher end-of-year NWEA MAP Growth math assessment RIT scores. The difference was statistically significant, with students who completed more than 12 hours outperforming those with less than six hours (p = .04, g = 0.38) and those with 6–12 hours (p = .03, g = 0.64). This suggests that participants that completed tutoring in a high-dosage schedule saw the largest benefit from K12 Tutoring.



K12 Tutoring users who participated in a high-dosage schedule (more than 12 hours of tutoring) had higher end-of-year NWEA MAP Growth math assessment RIT scores, and this difference was statistically significant.

Figure 2. Influence of time spent in K12 Tutoring usage on adjusted means for end-ofyear NWEA MAP Growth math assessment RIT scores. Mean difference between "12+ hours" and "< 6 hours" was statistically significant (p = .04, g = 0.38) as was the mean difference between "12+ hours" and "6-12 hours" (p = .03, g = .64).

Conclusions

Given multiple positive outcome findings, this study provides results to satisfy ESSA evidence requirements for Level II (Moderate Evidence). Specifically, this quasi-experimental study met the following criteria for Level II:

- ✓ Proper design and implementation
- ✓ Baseline equivalence for treatment and comparison groups
- ✓ Statistical controls through covariates
- ✓ At least 350 students in the analysis sample
- ✓ Representative, multi-site study
- ✓ At least one statistically significant, positive finding

References

- Dietrichson, J., Bøg, M., Filges, T., & Klint Jørgensen, A.-M. (2017). Academic interventions for elementary and middle school students with low socioeconomic status: A systematic review and metaanalysis. *Review of Educational Research*, *87*(2), 243-282.
- Kraft, M. A., & Falken, G. (2021). A blueprint for scaling tutoring across public schools. *Brown University* Annenberg Institute.
- Long, C. & Henschel, M. (2023). K12 Tutoring Logic Model. LearnPlatform by Instructure.
- Nickow, A., Oreopoulos, P., & Quan, V. (2024). The promise of tutoring for PreK–12 learning: A systematic review and meta-analysis of the experimental evidence. *American Educational Research Journal*, 61(1), 74-107.
- Robinson, C. D., & Loeb, S. (2021). High-impact tutoring: State of the research and priorities for future learning. *National Student Support Accelerator*, *21*(284), 1-53.

Appendix A. K12 Tutoring Logic Model (Long & Henschel, 2023)

k12.Tutoring

K12 Tutoring

Problem Statement: Districts are struggling to meet the learning needs of students who have experienced academic setbacks or learning loss due to the pandemic. K12 Tutoring seeks to address these challenges by leveraging technology to connect students with tutors who are certified teachers, using a personalized tutoring model. This intensive approach meets students where they are academically and helps to accelerate their learning so they can achieve their academic goals.

Inputs	Activities	Outputs	Outcomes
What is provided?	How are participants using K12 Tutoring?	What are the measurable results of implementing K12 Tutoring?	What are the expected changes or impacts of using K12 Tutoring?
	STUDENTS	CTUDENTS	
K12 TUTORING PROVIDES • Easy-to-use online platform for booking and managing sessions, incl. student, educator, and tutor dashboards • Batch booking as needed ¹ • Integrated virtual classroom • Built-in messaging tool • Highly-qualified and trained tutors who are state-certified teachers • Standards-aligned curriculum modules through K12 Tutoring's Learning Hub library • Personalized tutoring model ²	Complete student profile with their goals, interests, etc: Take Learning Style Quiz to understand how they learn best (e.g., auditory, visual) Book, reschedule, or cancel tutoring sessions for specific tutors and subjects up to 6 months in advance ³ Message with tutor as needed ahead of session Send tutor homework and other documents as needed Review upcoming sessions or session history Attend all scheduled tutoring sessions through the virtual classroom Rate tutors after every session, incl. marking tutor as favorite EDUCATORS ⁴ Attend initial kickoff meetings with K12 Tutoring Team ⁵	Number of logins Total number of active minutes Average weekly minutes Learning Style Quiz results Number of sessions booked, rescheduled, or canceled with content and date Session status (e.g., complete, accepted, declined) Session attendance Number of students per session Number and content of messages between tutor and student Number of homework and documents shared Responses to tutor rating questionnaire	SHORT-TERM Students Improve understanding of academic concepts and gain proficiency in academic skills Increase confidence toward developing their knowledge and skills Increase interest and motivation for academic success Educators Increase capacity to spend more time focusing on individual student needs Families/Guardians Increase awareness of child's tutoring activities and academic performance Tutors
utilizing 1:1 up to 1:5 tutoring sessions 24/7 customer support Dedicated customer success manager	Conduct orientation training for all school/district educators Book, reschedule, or cancel 1-1 up to 1-5 tutoring sessions on behalf of students and indicate what material should be covered Message with tutor as needed ahead of session Communicate with students to ensure high student attendance and engagement in the tutoring sessions Review weekly session reports Meet weekly (or other cadence as desired) with K12 Tutoring	EDUCATORS • Training/orientation attendance • Number of sessions booked, rescheduled, or canceled with content and date • Number and content of messages between tutor and educator • Reports accessed, incl. tutor feedback of student during sessions	Establish trust and strong relationships with students Support the unique learning needs of their students
	customer success manager		INTERMEDIATE Students
DISTRICT PROVIDES • Names and contact information for eligible students and authorized educators • Point(s) of contact who will coordinate with K12 Tutoring team to support the implementation	TUTORS • Successfully complete application, background check, certification check, on-boarding, profile setup, and training process • Keep availability up-to-date and adhere to Community Guidelines on an ongoing basis ⁶ • Review session bookings and accept/decline booking requests promptly • Message with students as needed ahead of sessions • Prepare for sessions by reviewing student profile, any specified topics/standards to cover and pulling relevant curricular materials from K12. Tutoring's Learning Hub • Deliver sessions as scheduled, covering standards/topics as	TUTORS • Number of logins • Total number of active minutes • Average weekly minutes • Frequency of availability updates and Community Guidelines accessed • Number of sessions accepted/declined/completed/canceled • Number of students per session • Content of subjects tutored • Number and content of messages with students,	Improve their grades and/or standardized assessment performance in the areas covered in their tutoring sessions Close academic gaps that may otherwise prevent them from progressing to the next grade level Educators Reduce teachers' stress Administrators utilize the platform to better support teachers
Participants	specified • Mark student attendance	Average student attendance per session	
Who use K12 Tutoring?	Answer short questionnaire to provide student feedback	Responses to student feedback questionnaire	*
K-12 students Educators (administrators, teachers, school staff) Tutors Families/Guardians	FAMILIES /GUARDIANS Receive communications about K12 Tutoring and expectations for how to use it effectively Add parent/guardian contact information to the student account to gain access to their child's dashboard, as well as copies of all platform communications Log in into platform as needed to review interactions between their student and tutors Respond to feedback questionnaire (star rating and review, optional)	FAMILIES/GUARDIANS • Number of logins • Number and content of messages with tutors • Responses to feedback questionnaire (star rating and review)	LONG-TERM Students • Proceed successfully through their K-12 academic career and graduate high school on time • Succeed in their chosen college or career training after high school Educators • Achieve higher job satisfaction and retention
stch Booking allows districts to share a spreadsheet of st resonalized Tutoring Model is an approach to tutoring the hool/district may choose whether to enable this feature ducator division of responsibilities might be different dep- itial Kickoff Meetings are an apportunity to gain a mutual me. ⁶ K12 Tutoring publishes Community Guidelines that t	udents/student groups and their intended tutoring schedule so that K12 Tutoring can create bookin is tailored to meet specific student needs. for student to book their own sessions or whether the school books student sessions. ending on the school. understanding of the scope and goals of the implementation, the student population and their need utors must adhere to in order to maintain access to the tutoring platform.	gs in bulk. ds, and the roles and responsibilities across the customer and K12 Tutoring	

Appendix B. Additional Information on Study Design and Methods

A total of 118 fourth-grade K12 Tutoring students had complete demographic, achievement, and usage data. In addition, a sample of 824 comparison students with complete demographic and achievement data was obtained. Using this dataset of 118 K12 Tutoring students and 824 non-users, propensity score matching (i.e., nearest neighbor matching without replacement) was used to create a matched study sample of K12 Tutoring students and 236 non-users with similar academic and demographic profiles. Consequently, the matched study sample included 354 students. Additional demographic information on participating students is included in Table B1.

	K12 Tutoring		Non-u	Non-users		Total Sample	
Characteristic	(<i>n</i> = 118)		(<i>n</i> = 2	(<i>n</i> = 236)		(N = 354)	
	Percent	п	Percent	п	Percent	п	
Gender							
Female	54%	64	55%	131	55%	195	
Male	46%	54	45%	105	45%	159	
Ethnicity							
Hispanic	39%	46	44%	105	43%	151	
Black	23%	27	18%	42	19%	69	
White	13%	15	9%	21	10%	36	
American Indian	3%	3	1%	2	1%	5	
Asian	1%	1	1%	2	1%	3	
Other/Unreported	22%	26	18%	64	25%	90	
English Language Learner (ELL Status)							
Yes	10%	12	9%	21	9%	33	
No	90%	106	91%	215	91%	321	
Special Education Status							
Yes	28%	33	23%	55	25%	88	
No	72%	85	77%	181	75%	266	
Economically Disadvantaged							
Yes	59%	70	61%	145	61%	215	
No	41%	48	39%	91	39%	139	

Table B1. Student demographics by group for matched sample.

Baseline Equivalence

After propensity score matching, regression analyses confirmed no statistically significant differences between student groups. Baseline equivalency was assessed to determine whether students who participated in K12 Tutoring differed from those who did not participate in tutoring on key characteristics. For the primary matching variable, pre-tutoring NWEA MAP RIT scores, the matched sample met What Works Clearinghouse (WWC) baseline equivalence standards, with a Hedges' g effect size of 0.01 and a standardized mean difference (SMD) below 0.25. No other demographic variables were found to be significant predictors of group assignment and were therefore not included in the matching model. See Table B2 for full baseline equivalency results.

Table B2. Baseline Equivalence.

	K12 Tutoring		Non-users			
Variable	Adjusted Mean (<i>SD</i>)	п	Adjusted Mean (<i>SD</i>)	n	Hedges' g	<i>p</i> -value
NWEA MAP RIT Score	187.05 (16.12)	118	187.20 (16.03)	236	0.01	.93
	%	n	%	п	Chi-square	<i>p</i> -value
School District (TX)	85	100	84	199	.00	1.00
Gender (Female)	54	64	55	131	.01	.91
Special Education (Yes)	28	33	23	55	.68	.41

Appendix C. Additional Information on Results

The following section provides additional details on the analyses conducted for the Effectiveness Research Questions.

What was the impact of K12 Tutoring on the end-of-year NWEA MAP Growth math assessment for students who received tutoring compared to those who did not?

A linear regression model was conducted to evaluate the impact of K12 Tutoring participation on end-ofyear NWEA MAP Growth math scores, measured in RIT (Rasch Unit) points. Tutoring participation was included as a dummy-coded predictor, with non-users serving as the reference group. The model also controlled for pre-tutoring MAP Growth math scores (continuous predictor), as well as school, gender, and special education status (nominal predictors). Tutoring was a significant positive predictor of end-ofyear NWEA MAP Growth math scores, with the full model accounting for 33% of the variance in growth scores, F(5, 348) = 35.40, p < .001. See Table C1 for the full model.

	Unstandardized Beta (B)	Standard Error	<i>t</i> -value	<i>p</i> -value
Intercept	70.38	11.25	6.26	< .001
Tutoring	6.28	1.74	3.62	< .001
Pre-tutoring MAP Growth	0.65	0.06	11.37	< .001
School	-8.20	2.25	-3.65	< .001
Gender	1.66	1.66	1.00	.32
SE	2.39	2.39	1.18	.24

Table C1. End-of-year NWEA MAP Growth math scores as predicted by Tutoring.

Note. The reference group for Tutoring is non-users.

How did the end-of-year NWEA MAP Growth math assessment scores vary based on the total amount of time students spend in tutoring?

A linear regression model was conducted to examine the impact of K12 Tutoring intensity on end-of-year NWEA MAP Growth math assessment scores among tutoring participants. Tutoring usage was included as an ordinal predictor, with students categorized into three groups: less than six hours, between six and 12 hours, and more than 12 hours of tutoring between December 2023 and June 2024. The reference group was set to students who completed more than 12 hours of tutoring. The model also controlled for pre-tutoring MAP Growth math scores (continuous predictor), as well as school, gender, and special education status (nominal predictors). As shown in Table C2, students who completed more than 12 hours of K12 Tutoring had higher end-of-year NWEA MAP Growth math RIT scores compared to those who received less than six hours and between six and 12 hours, with the full model explaining 30% of the variance in growth scores, F(6, 111) = 9.37, p < .001.



	Unstandardized Beta (B)	Standard Error	<i>t</i> -value	<i>p</i> -value
Intercept	97.22	19.93	4.88	< .001
Tutoring Usage				
< 6 hours	-7.86	3.86	-2.04	.04
6-12 hours	-8.90	4.01	-2.22	.03
Pre-tutoring MAP Growth	0.57	0.10	5.81	< .001
School	-5.56	4.40	-1.27	.21
Gender	4.64	2.99	1.55	.12
SE	-3.57	3.53	-1.01	.31

Table C2. End-of-year NWEA MAP Growth math scores as predicted by tutoring usage.

Note. The reference group for Tutoring Usage is students who completed 12+ hours of tutoring.